I.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

I. 	 The Petitioner contends that he received ineffective assistance of counsel, in violation 
of the Sixth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States of America, and 
under Article III, Section 14 of the West Virginia Constitution. 

IA. 	 The Petitioner contends that if the evidence of the Petitioner's Borderline LQ. would 
have been known the evidence at trial was insufficient to support a conviction for 
grand larceny. 

IB. 	 The Petitioner contends that the trial counsel committed error in not challenging that 

the burglary count had no possibility of violence. 

IC. 	 The Petitioner contends that he is unable to challenge the validity of his convictions for 
DUI offenses, due to the records not being in the court file or appendices. 

II. 	 The Petitioner contends that he received disproportionate sentencing, which 
constitutes cruel and unusual punishment under the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth 
Amendments to the Constitution of the United States, and Article III, Section 5 of the 
West Virginia Constitution. 

III. 	 The Petitioner contends that Grounds I-II combined show that he was denied his 
constitutional right to a fair and impartial trial under the doctrine of cumulative error. 

H. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Now comes Danny Lee Hundley, the petitioner herein, by counsel, Eric M. Francis, and 

respectfully submits unto this Honorable Court his Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus ad 

Subj iciendum. 

JURISDICTION 

This Petition is brought pursuant to West Virginia Code §53-4A-I, et seq., wherein it is 

stated that any Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus ad Subjiciendum shall be filed with the Clerk 

of the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals, or with the Clerk of any Circuit Court, as the 

Constitution of the State of West Virginia has granted original jurisdiction in such matters unto 
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the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals and all Circuit Courts. The Greenbrier County 

Circuit Court denied the Petitioner's habeas corpus writ on November 3,2016. The Petitioner 

now timely appeals that decision. 

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

Danny Lee Hundley, the Petitioner herein, was arrested on the evening of May 2, 2006, 

and charged with the offense of nighttime burglary and grand larceny. (Appendix pp. 9-11.) The 

police had found a truck parked on a back street with a four-wheeler nearby. Upon further 

investigation, they determined that the owner of the four-wheeler was unaware that it had been 

removed from the basement of his home. 1 The Petitioner and a co-defendant were found in the 

area where the truck was located. Upon being questioned, the Petitioner indicated that he knew 

the owner of the four-wheeler, and that he had permission to borrowed the same. (Appendix p. 

The Petitioner waived a preliminary hearing, and the matter was presented unto the 

Grand Jury for Greenbrier County, West Virginia, on October 3, 2006. As a result, he was 

indicted on one count of burglary and one count of grand larceny. (Appendix pp. 9-11.) The 

Greenbrier County Public Defender's Office was appointed to represent him, and he was 

arraigned on October 5, 2006, pleading not guilty. (Appendix p. 1.) 

On November 16, 2006, the Petitioner filed pre-trial motions, including a motion to 

dismiss the burglary indictment based upon the State's failure to specifically set forth what crime 

the Petitioner intended to commit after he entered the victim's residence. (Appendix pp.468

1 At this point, it should be stated that no testimony in the transcripts or appendix "suggest" any inside access to 

the basement of the house in question, which will be discussed below. 

2 The defendant continually made this assertion. This reference is only an example, not every citation where the 

defendant made the claim. 
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470.) Upon receiving evidence and testimony in this matter on December 20,2006, the Court 

denied the Motion by Order dated January 18,2007. 

The matter was scheduled for trial on January 25,2007. The State made an offer of a 

plea bargain to the Petitioner, which provided that the State would dismiss the burglary and 

grand larceny charges in exchange for the Petitioner's plea of guilty to the offense of conspiracy 

to commit burglary. In addition, the State indicated that it would not seek any enhancement of 

sen,tence, if the Petitioner entered such a plea. 

The testimony at trial indicated that the neighbor had given the Petitioner permission to 

use the four-wheeler on previous occasions, but that had not been intended to be a blanket 

permission, neither allowing the Petitioner to use the four-wheeler whenever he wanted, nor to 

enter the home of the alleged victim whenever the Petitioner wanted in order to obtain access to 

the four-wheeler. (Appendix pp. 135, 16l.) Petitioner's counsel at the time did not 

meaningfully question Mr. Legg on clarifying or determining the understanding prior to the 

agreement about the four-wheeler. (Appendix pp. 104-107.) 

Counsel for the Petitioner called the Petitioner as a witness in this matter, causing him to 

waive his right against self-incrimination. Counsel was warned repeatedly by the Court that this 

was an ill-advised strategy, but Counsel proceeded regardless. The Petitioner relied upon the 

advice ofhis counsel and testified. 

At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found the Petitioner guilty on both counts. 

(Appendix p. 2.) The State then filed a petition alleging that the Petitioner was a habitual 

offender. (Appendix p. 2.) That matter proceeded to trial on March 17,2007, and the jury found 

that the Petitioner had previously been convicted on at least two felony counts. As a result, the 

Petitioner was sentenced to life imprisonment. (Appendix p. 3.) 
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The Petitioner appealed this matter to the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals, 

where the matter was refused by the Court on a 3-2 vote. The Petitioner filed a habeas corpus 

writ on May 4, 2010. After several issues, the lower Court appointed current counsel on 

February 23,2012. The original lower Court denied the Petitioner's habeas corpus writ on 

November 3,2016. The Petitioner then appealed. This Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus ad 

Subjiciendum follows: 

1. THE PETITIONER CONTENDS THAT HE RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE 
ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH AMENDMENT 

TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, AND 
UNDER ARTICLE III, SECTION 14 OF THE WEST VIRGINIA 

CONSTITUTION 

A defendant in a criminal case is guaranteed the right to the effective assistance of counsel by 

both the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article III, Section 14 of the 

West Virginia Constitution. Pursuant to the decisions in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 

668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed. 2d 674 (1984); State of West Virginia v. Bradley, 163 W.Va. 148, 

255 S.E.2d 536 (1979) and State v. Clawson, 165 W.Va. 588,270 S.E.2d 659 (1980), a Petition 

for a Writ of Habeas Corpus is the proper remedy for a lack of the effective assistance of 

counsel. 

In the decision, State v. Thomas, 157 W.Va. 640, 203 S.E.2d 445 (1974), the Court held 

that, in determining whether or not an accused had been prejudiced by the ineffective assistance 

of counsel, the Court should compare the performance of the counsel in question with the normal 

and customary skill possessed by attorneys who have a reasonable knowledge of criminal law. 

The Court continued that the burden of proof to show that the assistance of counsel was 

ineffective was upon the Petitioner, and that the Petitioner must show such ineffective assistance 
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ofcounsel by a preponderance of the evidence. The Court further held that the error of counsel 

must be such as could have changed the outcome of the trial. 

The Petitioner recognizes that the effective assistance of counsel is not necessarily the 

successful assistance of counsel. An attorney may provide effective assistance, and the case still 

be lost. The Petitioner also realizes that part ofhis burden is to demonstrate that the errors of 

counsel were more than just failed tactics or trial strategies, and must instead rise to the level of 

being both prejudicial and flagrant. 

In this matter, the Petitioner was charged with the felony offense of burglary, which 

carries a potential penalty of 1 to 15 years in the penitentiary of this State, and grand larceny, 

which carries a potential penalty of 1 to 10 years in the penitentiary. In addition, the State 

argued that the Petitioner had at least two prior felony convictions, so he was facing the 

possibility of an enhanced sentence. The State made an offer to the Petitioner that the burglary 

and grand larceny charges would be dismissed in exchange for his plea to the offense of 

conspiracy to commit burglary. In addition, the State indicated that it would forego any attempt 

to gain the enhanced penalty. The Petitioner was given a time limit of one day to either accept or 

reject this offer. 

This particular case centers around the defendant's limited mental capacity and how the 

trial counsel dealt with said Petitioner's limited menial capacity. As stated in the psychological 

for competency found in the Appendix (App. pp.745-756), the Petitioner has an I.Q. in the high 

70's; therefore, placing him in the borderline I.Q.3 range, as stated by the report (App. p. 752). 

However, in this case, the Petitioner's trial counsel did not explore said ramifications of the 

3 "Borderline I.Q." will also denote the accompanying issues that are associated with such condition. 
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Petitioner's "borderline" I.Q. That is to say, the trial counsel argues that he was not put on notice 

of the Petitioner's "borderline" I.Q. 

In this particular case, the Petitioner's current counsel will state that there was enough 

evidence before the trial cOllllsel to warrant further investigation. The further investigation is 

due in part to the fact that as stated in such cases as Strickland v. Washington, supra, that if the 

case is straight forward and not complex, a defense counsel should, do further investigation. In 

fact, in West Virginia, there has been a case similar to this case that Petitioner's counsel is not 

bringing before this Court. That case is in Wickline v. House, 424 S.E.2d 579, 189 W.Va. 344 

(1992). 

In that case, the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals found that the trial counsel was 

lacking and did not fall within the "normal and customary degree of skill possessed by an 

attorney who was reasonably knowledgeable of criminal law ... " In Wickline v. House, supra, 

the Court found that because the trial counsel in that case failed to investigate and adequately 

attack the client's admission of his statement, i.e. a confession. In this case, said confession of 

the Petitioner was challenged, but then later withdrawn (App. p.l.) There was no meaningful 

strategy put forward to the trier of fact, in this case the jury, that the defendant saw, operated, 

suffered from, or understood with a borderline I.Q. Petitioner's current counsel argues that this 

said evidence was brought before the jury, that it could have changed the outcome of the jury 

verdict. 

By failing to bring up said information to the jury, the trial counsel was indeed ineffective 

under Wickline v. House, supra, and Strickland v. Washington, supra, among other cases. At the 

underlying trial in this case, the Petitioner's trial counsel had sufficient training and skill, and 

was commensurate with the training and skill that the attorney in Wickline v. House, supra, had. 
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Also, after a review of the record, as stated earlier, the Petitioner's trial in this matter was 

scheduled for January 25, 2007. However, if one reviews the record and appendix found 

referenced in the psychological testing requested by current counsel, was a psychological report 

performed by Mike Morello on June 15, 2005, which also placed the defendant in the borderline 

range of intellectual functioning.4 CAppo p.747.) Also, the petitioner's family stated at a hearing 

that they informed trial counsel of certain issues (App. pp. 416-17) that could have given rise to 

but when pressed on questioning, the trial counsel conceded that if the borderline l.Q. had been 

known, it could have made a difference. (App. p,358.) Then, while he said he had no notice, the 

trial counsel acknowledged meeting the Petitioner's family and discussing issues CAppo p.359). 

The Petitioner's family asserted that they informed the trial counsel of the petitioner's 

deficiencies. CAppo pp. 416-17.) Thus, there were several clues and/or "bread crumbs" as to the 

petitioner's borderline l.Q. range. 

With the above being said, the Petitioner's current counsel will show where in at least 

three instances that the trial counsel's actions, omissions, or lack of due diligence, show that the 

trial counsel was ineffective and that said ineffectiveness rises to the level needed pursuant to 

Strickland v. Washington, supra, and Wickline v. House, supra. 

lA THE PETITIONER CONTENDS THAT IF THE EVIDENCE OF THE 
DEFENDANT'S BORDERLINE I.Q. WOULD HAVE BEEN KNOWN THE EVIDENCE 

AT TRIAL WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT A CONVICTION FOR GRAND 
LARCENY. 

It has been held repeatedly by the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals that the 

crime of larceny involves the stealing, taking or carrying away of the property of another against 

his will, and with the intent to permanently deprive the true owner of the ownership of the 

4 At this point, current counsel could also argue that the defendant could argue that his borderline I.Q. is "newly 
discovered evidence" under the law, but the analysis would be the same. 
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property in question. Summers v. Gaston, 205 W.Va. 198,517 S.E.2d 295 (1999), State v. 

Casto, 198 W.Va. 316, 480 S.E.2d 525 (1996), State v. Petrice, 183 W.Va. 695, 398 S.E.2d 52 

(1990). In this case, the evidence is that the Petitioner had previously had the pennission of the 

alleged victim to borrow the four-wheeler. While the Petitioner may have been wrong in his 

beliefthat he had pennission to use the four-wheeler anytime he pleased under any 

circumstances, there is no evidence that his intent was anything other than to once again borrow 

the vehicle. As he had the intent to return the four-wheeler after he had used it, there is no intent 

to pennanently deprive the owner of the vehicle. As a result, the evidence does not support a 

conviction for larceny, as there was no intent to pennanently deprive the owner ofthe value of 

his property. To put is another way, grand larceny is a specific intent crime. 

However, in this particular case, the Petitioner's trial counsel did not perfonn due 

diligence as it relates to investigation. Iftrial counsel had inquired, picked up on the clues, 

and/or listened to family members, he could have easily requested a psychological evaluation to 

detennine competency or if diminished capacity was present in the defendant. Assuming that 

one's LQ. absent a traumatic event, stays constant after someone reaches adulthood, it is safe to 

say that in the span of approximately ten years, that the Petitioner's I.Q. did not raise or lower 

significantly. Apparently, a psychological evaluation was perfom1ed on the defendant on or 

before the January 2007 trial date, it shows the borderline LQ. of the Petitioner. Thus, even if 

the trial court denied a Petitioner's motion to dismiss due to diminished capacity on or before 

January 18,2007, it seems likely, ifnot for certain, that the lower Court would have allowed the 

Petitioner, by counsel, to put on evidence that the Petitioner was a "concrete thinker", and call an 

expert witness to put on a defense of diminished capacity. (App. pp. 332-341.) Therefore, in 

such cases as State v. Joseph, 590 S.E.2d 718,214 W.Va. 525 (2003), and Wickline v. House, 
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supra, the defendant at trial could have at least attempted to explain to the trier of fact, the jury, 

through expert testimony that the defendant did not have the prerequisite mens rea to 

permanently deprive the owner of his property. However, because the trial counsel did not 

investigate this issue, it was not brought to the jury's attention. 

lB. THE PETITIONER CONTENDS THAT THE TRIAL COUNSEL COMMITTED 
ERROR IN NOT CHALLENGING THAT THE BURGLARY COUNT HAD THE 

POSSIBILITY OF VIOLENCE. 

The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals noted in State v. Wade, 174 W.Va. 381,327 

S.E.2d 142 (1985), that Rule 7 ofthe West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure implemented 

the provisions of Article III, Section 4 of the West Virginia Constitution. As a result, in order to 

be constitutionally valid, a charge must fully inform the accused of the particular offense with 

which he is being charged. The Petitioner believes that a burglary charge, where it is provided 

that entry is gained with the intent "to commit a crime" is therefore insufficient. Even the 

investigating officer testified that, if the Petitioner believed that he had permission to use the 

four-wheeler, and did not have the intent to permanently deprive the owner of the property, no 

burglary had occurred. 

The next issue that could possibly impact this discussion is trying to argue that the West 

Virginia Code §§61-11-18 and 61-11-19, commonly referred to as the recidivist statutes have a 

bearing on the Court's decision in this matter. For discussion, if one looks at the common cases 

under that, even there, there is conflict of whether or not a burglary charge is "inherently 

violent". See cases such as State v. Mitchell, 400 S.E.2d 897, 184 W.Va. 462 (1990); Walker v. 

Hoke, (W.Va. 2012); and State v. Davis, 427 S.E.2d 754,189 W.Va. 59, (1993). Ifone looks at 

those cases, one sees that the high Court argues that whether or not burglary is a crime of 
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violence or more accurately, a "crime with the possibility of violence", is done on a case by case. 

basis. 

However, when the trial counsel prepared for trial, it cannot be shown that he tried to 

argue that in that particular instance, the defendant's.burglary charge was not a crime of 

violence. As stated earlier, this is due that no one in the trial court process brings out, discusses, 

or even establishes whether or not the neighbors' residence has an inside access from the first 

floor to the basement. It is the Petitioner's current position that if there is no access from the first 

floor of the victim's residence to the basement, the "possibility of violence" is severely 

diminished, if not eliminated. 

The question arises is why did trial counsel not at least attempt to argue that the burglary 

count of the indictment did not constitute or have the "potential for violence" required by the 

recidivist statute in question. Because, if the "potential for violence" is absent, then arguably, 

the recidivist statute has if the trial counsel was successful, the recidivist trial may not have even 

went forward. Or, at least, it would have been saved for appeal. However, if one looks at the 

trial file and/or appendix, there is no information that the trial counsel even attempted to question 

whether the burglary could have had the "potential for violence" required. It can be argued that 

the failure to even address said issue qualifies as ineffective assistance of counsel. Because if the 

"triggering" charge does not have the possibility of violence, then is not the enhancement penalty 

called into question? 
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IC. THE PETITIONER CONTENDS THAT HE IS UNABLE TO CHALLENGE 
THE VALIDITY OF IDS CONVCTIONS FOR D.U.I. OFFENSES, DUE TO THE 
RECORDS NOT BEING IN THE COURT FILE OR APPENDICES. 

One of the prior convictions used to enhance the sentence of the Petitioner was a 

conviction ofDUI 3rd offense. On two separate prior occasions, when Petitioner's current 

counsel thought about how to challenge the prior trial counsel's actions, omissions or deletions, 

current counsel began with the two DUI prior felonies by the Petitioner. When contemplating 

how to collaterally attack the prior convictions so they would not be useful pursuant to the 

State's seeking an enhancement penalty under West Virginia Code §§61-11-18 or 61-11-19, 

current counsel came up with two possible avenues of attack. First, that counsel could have 

argued that prior uncounseled convictions on which the two felony DUI's were based (State v. 

Hopkins,453 S.E.2d 317, 192 W.Va. 493 (1994), were insufficient to sustain an enhancement 

penalty.S Alternatively, if both prior DUI convictions used the same underlying prior 

convictions, would that not eviscerate the State's argument that those two prior DUI convictions 

were in fact separate and equal. 

However, while preparing for this brief, Petitioner's counsel looked at the recidivist trial 

in this matter (App. pp. 256, 271) and found that while the prior felonies were mentioned on the 

trial transcript, there were no certified records in the Court file, nor in the appendices, that 

correlated to exhibits 1-5 as stated in the recidivist trial. (App. p.256.) Those documents are not 

certified or copies of court documents that have been certified. So, Petitioner's counsel would 

argue that the petitioner's enhancement verdict was built on inadmissible evidence.

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