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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Petitioner alleged three points of error in his appeal. First, he alleged ineffective 

assistance of counsel. Petitioner argued that his trial counsel should have presented an expert 

witness to explain why his borderline I.Q. prevented him from understanding that consent was 

needed before borrowing Mr. Legg's four-wheeler. An expert witness could not have changed 

Petitioner's testimony that he always asked permission to borrow the four-wheeler, but on the 

evening of May 2, 2006, he did not because he knew that permission would not be granted. 

Furthelmore, Petitioner alleged that he received ineffective assistance because his trial counsel 

failed to argue that the burglary count had no possibility of violence even though the act of 

burglary can always result in possible violence. Finally, Petitioner argued ineffective assistance 

because the underlying records for his previous felony convictions required to support the use of 

recidivist statute were not available. Because the State is required only to show that it was 

Petitioner who committed the offenses, not the factual basis for each underlying felony, this 

argument is meritless as well. 

The second error argued by Petitioner was that the imposition of a life sentence pursuant 

to the recidivist statute amounted to cruel and unusual punishment because the underlying 

offenses were just "traffic violations." Because the other convictions supporting the application 

of the recidivist statute were two separate felony offenses of driving under the influence of 

alcohol, third or subsequent offense, the invocation of the recidivism statute did not amount to 
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cruel and unusual punishment. Finally, the third error alleged by Petitioner was cumulative error. 

Because Petitioner's trial counsel did not commit any error, to argue cumulative error is 

meritless. 

IV. 	 STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

The State does not believe that oral argument is necessary as the "facts and legal 

arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and record on appeal, and the decisional process 

would not be significantly aided by oral argument." R.A.P. 18(a)(4). However, should the Court 

order oral argument, the State believes that it falls under Rule 19. 

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

In reviewing challenges to the findings and conclusions of the circuit court in a habeas 

corpus action, this Court applies a three-prong standard of review. The Court reviews the final 

order and the ultimate disposition under an abuse of discretion standard, clearly erroneous 

standard for the underlying factual findings, and de novo review for questions of law. Syl. Pt. 1, 

Mathena v. Haines, 219 W. Va. 417, 633 S.E.2d 771 (2006). 

VI. ARGUMENT 

A. 	 THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT 
PETITIONER'S TRIAL COUNSEL PROVIDED EFFECTIVE 
ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL. 

Petitioner alleged that he received ineffective assistance of counsel in violation of the 

Sixth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States and under Article III, Section 14 of the 

West Virginia Constitution because: 1) "'[I]f the evidence of the Petitioner's borderline I.Q. 

would have been known the evidence at trial was insufficient to support a conviction for grand 

larceny;" 2) Counsel for Petitioner did "not challeng[e] that the burglary count had no possibility 

of violence;" and, 3) Counsel for Petitioner was "unable to challenge the validity of his 
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convictions for the DUI offenses due to records not being in the court file or appendices." (See 

Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus ad Subjiciendum. (A.R. 1.) 

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are governed by the two-prong test established 

in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Counsel's 

performance is evaluated under an objective standard of reasonableness. Is there a reasonable 

probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceedings would have 

been different? Syl. Pt. 1, State ex ref. Kitchen v. Painter, 226 W.Va. 278, 700 S.E.2d 489(2010) 

(quoting Syl. Pt. 5, State v. Miller, 194 W. Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114 (1995)). The first prong 

requires that a Petitioner "identify the acts or omissions of counsel that are alleged not to have 

been the result of reasonable professional judgment. The court then must determine whether, in 

light of all the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions were outside the wide' range of 

professionally competent assistance." State ex ref. Myers v. Painter, 213 W. Va. 32, 35, 576 

S.E.2d 277,280 (2002) (quoting Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 690 (1984)). There is 

a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable 

professional assistance. Myers, 213 W. Va. at 36, 576 S.E.2d at 281 (quoting Strickland, 466 

U.S. at 689). 

The second prong looks to whether counsel's deficient performance adversely affected 

the outcome. Myers, 213 W. Va. at 36, 576 S.E.2d at 281. "To demonstrate prejudice, a 

defendant must prove there is a 'reasonable probability' that, absent the errors, the jury would 

have reached a different result." State v. Miller, 194 W. Va. 3, 15,459 S.E.2d 114, 126 (1995) 

(quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694.) A determination must be made that the identified acts or 

omissions were outside the broad range of competent assistance while at the same time refraining 

from engaging in hindsight or second-guessing. In other words, a reviewing court asks whether 

5 




a reasonable lawyer would have acted, under the circumstances, as defense counsel acted. Syl. 

Pt. 2, Kitchen, supra (quoting Syl. Pt. 6, Miller, 194 W. Va. at 6,459 S.E.2d at 117.) The actions 

of the attorney must be examined according to what was known and reasonable at the' time the 

attorney made his or her choices. Syl. Pt. 4, State ex rei. Daniel v. Legursky, 195 W. Va. 314, 

465 S.E.2d 416 (1995). Occurrences involving strategy, tactics, and course of action are 

unreasonable only if no reasonably qualified defense attorney would have so acted to be proven 

by a preponderance of the evidence. Syl. Pts. 3 and 4, Kitchen, supra (quoting Syl. Pts. 21 and 

22, State v. Thomas, 157 W. Va. 640, 203 S.E.2d 445 (1974)). 

1. 	 Trial Counsel Was Not Ineffective By Failing To Present Evidence Of 
Petitioner's Borderline 1.0. With Regard To His Conviction Of Grand Larceny. 

To support a conviction for grand larceny it must be shown that the defendant took and 

carried away personal property of another against his will with the intent to permanently deprive 

him of the ownership. Syl. Pt. 3, State v. Louk, 169 W.Va. 24, 285 S.E.2d 432 (1981); Syl. Pt. 4, 

Summers v. Gaston, 205 W.Va. 198, 517 S.E.2d 295 (1999). Petitioner argued that because he 

had a borderline I.Q. and was a "concrete thinker" trial counsel was ineffective bec.ause he failed 

to have an expert testify at trial to explain why Petitioner believed that he had implied consentto 

borrow the four-wheeler on the evening of May 2,2006. (A.R. 711.) 

Even accepting that Petitioner had a borderline I.Q., it does not automatically follow that 

Petitioner is entitled to relief for ineffective assistance of counsel. On March 8, 2013, the circuit 

court ordered an evaluation of Petitioner by Dr. Smith. (A.R. 644.) After evaluating Petitioner, 

Dr. Smith concluded that Petitioner was competent to stand trial, had an adequate factual and 

rational appreciation of the proceeding against him, and the capacity to assist his attorney in his 

own defense. Importantly, he opined that at the time of the alleged crimes Petitioner was 
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criminally responsible for his acts, able to appreciate the wrongfulness of his acts, and able to 

conform his acts to the requirements of law. CA.R. 756.) 

Dr. Smith's opinions were consistent with trial counsel's observations and conclusions. 

Counsel, a public defender, frequently represented persons with cognitive limitations similar to 

those of Petitioner. CA.R. 356.) On those occasions when one of his client's competency was in 

question, he always requested a competency evaluation. CA.R. 459.) However, in this case 

Petitioner had been "reasonably articulate, understood the process, understood the notion of 

criminal responsibility and, actually, had an explanation for why he did what he did." CA.R. 459.) 

He was responsive, coherent, and able to understand his options, defenses, and problems with his 

case. CA.R. 362.) Trial counsel was careful to inform Petitioner of the risks with the defense of 

"implied consent" especially after being offered two different plea agreements without the 

application of the recidivist statute. CA.R. 358,386,394,411,412.) 

Because trial counsel did not have a good faith basis to believe that Petitioner's limited 

capacity affected his understanding of the case, he did not motion the court for an evaluation. 

CA.R. 364, 370, 407.) However, even if he had moved for an evaluation and it was granted 

Petitioner is required to show prejudice or that there is a "reasonable probability" that absent the 

error the jury would have reached a different result. Petitioner did not show prejudice. The 

uncontested facts contradict "implied consent" because: 1) Petitioner had always sought consent 

before the evening of May 2, 2006 CA.R. 101, 119, 173, 178); 2) Petitioner knew that consent 

would not be given on the evening of May 2, 2006, because he was under the influence of 

alcohol CA.R. 165, 173); 3) Even though it would have been easier to get the four-\vheeler on 

the truck closer to the basement door where it was stored, Petitioner chose to load it at a location 

that was not visible from Mr. Legg's house and less advantageous to load a four-wheeler CA.R. 
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69-75, 97-98, 165); and 4) Petitioner fled when he saw law enforcement driving in the area 

leaving the four-wheeler partially loaded on the truck. (A.R. 168.) The uncontested facts 

contradict implied consent and, therefore, fail to support a "reasonable probability" that 

Petitioner was prejudiced by the omission of an expert at trial to explain the effect of his 

borderline IQ on his understanding of consent. For this reason, Petitioner's argUment of 

ineffective assistance of counsel must fail. 

2. 	 Trial Counsel Was Not Ineffective By Not Challenging That.The Burglary Count 
Had No Possibility Of Violence. 

Petitioner alleged that trial counsel was ineffective because he failed to argue that the 

burglary charge was not a violent crime because there was "no access from the first floor of the 

victims' residence to the basement." The means or place of entry into someone's home does 

not make the act of burglary more or less dangerous. Unlike the cases cited by Petitioner, this 

Court has unequivocally held that the offense of burglary is inherently dangerous. See State v. 

Jones, 187 W.Va. 600, 420 S.E.2d 736, 741(1992). Burglary, "by its very nature," involves a 

"threat of harm or violence." Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Housden, 184 W.Va. 171,399 S.E.2d 882 

(1990). Even when no one is home, burglary is a dangerous act. Id.885. 

Another argument listed by Petitioner under this alleged error was the failure of the State 

to name the crime that Petitioner intended to commit during the burglary. (Pet.'s Br. 9.) 

Burglary is defined as follows: 

The offense of burglary is set forth in W. Va. Code § 61-3-11(a) (Supp.1996) as 
follows: (a) Burglary shall be a felony and any person convicted thereof shall be 
confined in the penitentiary not less than one nor more than fifteen years. If any 
person shall, in the nighttime, break and enter, or enter without breaking, or shall, 
in the daytime, break and enter, the dwelling house, or an outhouse adjoining 
thereto or occupied therewith, of another, with intent to commit a crime therein, 
he shall be deemed guilty of burglary. 

State ex. reI. Thompson v. Watkins, 200 W. Va. 214,488 S.E.2d 894 (1997). 
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An indictment is sufficient if it substantially follows the language of the statute and in 

this case the language was followed. Syl. 5 State v. Wade, 174 W.Va. 381, 327 S.E.2d 142 

(1985). For this reason, Petitioner's argument of ineffective assistance of counsel must fail. 

3. 	 Trial Counsel Was Not Ineffective Because Petitioner's Conviction Records For 
His DUI Offenses Were Not In The Court File Or Appendices. 

Petitioner argued that "nowhere in the transcript or the appendix can petitioner's counsel 

find where trial counsel sought to object to any part of the underlying prior two convictions for 

DUI as it related to the Petitioner's enhancement trial." (Pet.'s Supreme Ct. Brief pp. 11-12.) 

Once established that the underlying convictions were valid, the State is not required to prove the 

factual -basis for each of the underlying convictions. The only key elements in a recidivist 

proceeding are proof of the prior felony convictions and that the defendant is the person who was 

convicted of that felony. In State v. Hillberry, 233 W. Va. 27, 35, 754 S.E.2d 603, 611 (2014) 

this COUlt held: 

We therefore hold that under WVa.Code § 61-11-19 [1943], a recidivist 
information is sufficient if it alleges a previous conviction with such particularity 
as to give reasonable notice to the defendant: (1) of the nature and character of the 
previous convictiop; (2) of the court wherein the previous conviction occurred; 
and (3) that the identity of the person previously convicted is the same as the 
defendant. 

The State sufficiently proved Petitioner's convictions for felony DUI third offense during 

the habitual offender proceeding. I For this reason, Petitioner's argument of ineffective 

assistance of counsel must fail. 

1 With regard to Count 1 of the information, 

We, the jury, find the defendant DANNY LEE HUNDLEY, 

To be the same person as was convicted of the felony offense of driving under 

the influence of alcohol, third or subsequent offense on or about May 12, 

1975 in the Circuit Court of Greenbrier County. (cont.) 
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B. 	 THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE 
PETITIONER'S SENTENCING WAS NOT DISPROPORTIONATE. 

Petitioner argues that two of the convictions supporting the application of the recidivist 

statute were simple "traffic violations" and as such "this case falls within the limited exception 

of cases where the imposition of a life sentence is so disproportionate to the gravity of the 

underlying offenses that the cruel and unusual punishment standard is violated." (Pet.' s Supreme 

Ct. Brief p. 12.) The convictions supporting the application of the recidivist statute were not 

simple traffic violations, but were for felony driving under the influence of alcohol third or 

subsequent offense. This Court has not hesitated to find that convictions of driving under the 

influence of alcohol third or subsequent offense used to impose a recidivist life sentence do not 

violate the proportionality principle of the state and federal constitutions. State ex. rei. Appleby v. 

Recht, 213 W.Va. 503, 583 S.E.2d 800 (2002). "In short, operating an automobile while under 

the influence is reckless conduct that places the citizens of this State at great risk of serious 

physical harm or death.'" Id. at 813 citing State ex rei. State v. Gutstke, 205 W.Va. 72, 81, 516 

S.E.2d 283, 292 (1999). Petitioner's argument that his sentence was disproportionate must fail. 

With regard to Count 2 of the information, 

We, the jury, find DANNY LEE HUNDLEY, 

To be the same person as was convicted of the felony offense of grand larceny 

On or about May 1,2000 in the Circuit Court of Greenbrier County. 


With regard to Count 3 of the information, 

We, the jury, find that defendant DANNY LEE HUNDLEY, 

To be the same person as was convicted of the felony offense of driving under 

The influence of alcohol, their or subsequent offense on or about September 22, 2003 in 

the Circuit Court of Greenbrier County. 


(A.R.231-232.) 
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C. 	 THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR BY NOT ANALYZING THIS 
CASE UNDER THE CUMULATIVE ERROR DOCTRINE. 

Petitioner argued that "[a]s a result of the totality of the errors committed in this case, the 

Writ sought by the Petitioner should be granted." (Pet.'s Supreme Ct. Briefp. 13.) This Court 

held under the Cumulative Error Doctrine: 

Where the record of a criminal trial shows that the cumulative effect of numerous 
errors committed during the trial prevented the defendant from receiving a fair 
trial, his conviction should be set aside, even though anyone of such errors 
standing alone would be harmless error. 

State v. Foster, 221 W. Va. 629, 645, 656 S.E.2d 74, 90 (2007) (quoting Syl. Pt. 5, State v. 

Smith, 156 W. Va. 385, 193 S.E.2d 550 (1972». 

As fully discussed the errors that Petitioner alleged were not errors at all and thus 

undeserVing of cumulative error analysis. See State v. Knuckles, 196 W. Va. 416,426, 473 

S.E.2d 131, 141 ("Cumulative error analysis should evaluate only the effect of matters 

determined to be error, not the cumulative effect of non-errors.") Assuming arguendo, that some 

errors were committed in this case, none, whether individually or collectively, warrant a reversal 

of Petitioner's conviction. Thus, contrary to Petitioner's assertion, the lower court did not 

commit error in not analyzing this case under the cumulative error doctrine. 

VI. CONCLUSION

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